Clinical Neurophysiology Practice 1 (2016) 62-66



Contents lists available at ScienceDirect

# Clinical Neurophysiology Practice

journal homepage: www.elsevier.com/locate/cnp



## Review article

## Potential risks of iatrogenic complications of nerve conduction studies (NCS) and electromyography (EMG)



A. Gechev<sup>a</sup>, N.M. Kane<sup>b,\*</sup>, M. Koltzenburg<sup>c</sup>, D.G. Rao<sup>d</sup>, R. van der Star<sup>e</sup>

- <sup>a</sup> West Hertfordshire Hospitals, Royal Free Hospital, London NW3 2QC, UK
- <sup>b</sup> Grey Walter Department of Clinical Neurophysiology, Southmead Hospital, Bristol BS10 5NB, UK
- <sup>c</sup> National Hospital for Neurology and Neurosurgery, Queen Square, London WC1N 3BG, UK
- <sup>d</sup> N Floor, Royal Hallamshire Hospital, Glossop Road, Sheffield S10 2JF, UK
- <sup>e</sup> Wessex Neurological Centre, University Hospital Southampton, Southampton SO16 6YD, UK

#### ARTICLE INFO

## Article history:

Received 21 July 2016 Received in revised form 8 September 2016 Accepted 10 September 2016 Available online 13 October 2016

Kevwords: Nerve conduction studies Electromyography Risks Adverse events Severity Recommendations

#### ABSTRACT

Nerve conduction and electromyography studies are generally well tolerated and pose little risk to patients of serious adverse events in the hands of a well-trained competent practitioner. However, some patients and certain examinations do carry a higher risk of potential complications. It is good medical practice to inform patients of any risks, their potential severity and relative frequency. In order to obtain informed consent a dialogue should take place about the nature, purpose and effects of the studies, so patients can decide if they wish to undergo the proposed investigation. In this educational review we identify those procedures and patients at risk, and provide pragmatic practice recommendations for managing these material risks.

Crown Copyright © 2016 Published by Elsevier B.V. on behalf of International Federation of Clinical Neurophysiology. This is an open access article under the CC BY-NC-ND license (http://creativecommons. org/licenses/by-nc-nd/4.0/).

#### **Contents**

1.	Basic considerations	63
	Infections	
3.	Lymphoedema	63
4.	Prosthetic joints and metal osteosynthesises	64
5.	Bleeding, haematoma and compartment syndromes	64
6.	Electrodiagnostic assessment of pregnant women.	
7.	Pneumothorax, peritonitis and local nerve injury	64
8.	Electrically sensitive patients	
	8.1. Studies in the critical care unit	65
	8.2. Implanted pacemakers and cardiac defibrillators	
	8.3. Implanted deep brain stimulators (DBS) and Vagal nerve stimulators (VNS)	65
9.	Conclusion	65
	Authors contribution	65
	Conflict of interest	
	References	66

E-mail addresses: antonin.gechev@nhs.net (A. Gechev), Nick.Kane@nbt.nhs.uk (N.M. Kane), Martin.Koltzenburg@uclh.nhs.uk (M. Koltzenburg), Ganesh.Rao@sth.nhs.uk (D.G. Rao), richard.vanderstar@uhs.nhs.uk (R. van der Star).

<sup>\*</sup> Corresponding author.

In modern medicine it is best practice to explain the investigative and therapeutic options available to patients, so that they can take an active role in decisions about their management along with health professionals. Ideally a practitioner should explain the potential benefits and risks associated with these, including the option of either doing nothing or suggesting any alternatives. Patients should be informed of all serious risks, however infrequent, so that they can weigh up the potential benefits against the material risks for themselves. The purpose of this review, which includes our pragmatic practice recommendations, is to outline the known risks or complications of nerve conduction studies (NCS) and needle electromyography (EMG), along with their estimated frequency and severity (see Tables 1 and 2) with reference to evidence-based information where currently available. Unfortunately there is in fact surprisingly little evidence from prospective studies, and we have therefore based our observations on the relatively small number of review articles and case reports available. as well as the collective experience and opinion of the authors. The guidelines of the local Health Provider's Policies on hand washing, health and safety (including electrical safety), infection control and control of hazardous substances to health, should be observed where applicable for electrodiagnostic assessment, and our recommendations should not supersede the regulations of an employing Institution. Furthermore it is essential to have equipment properly maintained and safety tested, to prevent electric shock hazard. Equally practitioners should be appropriately trained and proven competent to undertake electrodiagnostic studies as potential misinterpretation can lead to over- or under-diagnosis and misprognosis, which in themselves carry significant risks for patients, although this subject is outside the remit of our review.

#### 1. Basic considerations

It is widely recognized in the literature that electrodiagnostic studies are generally well tolerated (Dumitru et al., 2002; Preston and Shapiro, 2013,). On the other hand transient mild procedural

**Table 1** Classification of the frequency of adverse events.

≥1/10
$<1/10$ and $\ge 1/100$
$<1/100$ and $\ge 1/1000$
$<1/1000$ and $\ge 10,000$
<1/10,000

CIOMS -Council of International Organizations of Medical Sciences.

**Table 2** Severity of adverse events.

Grade 1 Mild	Asymptomatic or mild symptoms; clinical or diagnostic observations only; intervention not indicated
Grade 2	Minimal, local or noninvasive intervention indicated;
Moderate	limiting age-appropriate instrumental ADL (preparing meals, shopping for groceries or clothes, using the telephone, managing money, etc.)
Grade 3	Medically significant but not immediately life-
Severe	threatening; hospitalization or prolongation of hospitalization indicated; disabling; limiting self-care ADL (bathing, dressing and undressing, feeding self, using the toilet, taking medications, and not bedridden)
Grade 4 Life-threatening	Urgent medical intervention indicated
Grade 5	
Death	

pain and discomfort are very common, and in fact the most frequent "undesired effect" that patients will experience. The discomfort, or mild pain experienced by some patients, following the application of electrical stimulation during nerve conduction studies (NCS) is transient and self-limiting and will not initiate or aggravate pre-existing symptoms beyond the duration of the actual investigation. Adverse events such as self-limiting mild tenderness and/or bruising commonly follow an 'uncomplicated' needle electromyography (EMG) examination. Some patients might be unable to cooperate with or even tolerate supramaximal electrical stimulation or needle examination, especially when patients have been sensitized previously. In the context of consent patients need to be advised that this might limit the diagnostic yield and sensitivity of the investigation, but could be informed about potential alternative diagnostic tests (e.g. Magnetic Resonance Imaging in the investigation of radiculopathy). We recommend documenting this in the final report. Presyncope and even syncope are well known to Electromyographers, albeit relatively uncommon (<1/100).

#### 2. Infections

Historically soft tissue infections secondary to needle EMG have been reported sporadically but are probably very rare (<1/10,000). Infectious pathogens that have been identified include Staphylococcus epidermidis (Burris and Fairchild, 1986) and an outbreak of Mycobacterium fortuitum occurred with re-usable needles (Nolan et al., 1991), but these were mild and self-limiting. Indeed reusable needles are now largely outmoded, since the demonstration that single-fibre EMG can be effectively performed with disposable fine concentric needle electrodes using a restricted bandpass for jitter studies. A single disposable needle electrode is typically used to make multiple insertions in several muscles in the same patient during needle EMG testing, but there is no evidence to suggest that multiple insertions into the same patient with a single needle electrode increases the risk of infection. Whether treatment of the skin with disinfection agents prior to needle insertion reduces the risk of infection is not known. Infection risk and the role of prophylactic antibiotics in immune compromised patients and endocarditis risk in vulnerable patients are largely unknown, but we are not aware of any incidences of procedure related infection. Vigorous dermabrasion and adhesive electrodes can injure the skin, particularly in very young, elderly or vulnerable patients, and theoretically lead to either local skin infection and/or act as a portal of entry in a susceptible patient. When very sticky self-adhesive surface electrodes are applied to vulnerable skin (e.g. after corticosteroid treatment) their subsequent removal can lift off skin. It is advisable that broken and potentially infected skin (e.g. decubitus ulcer) is avoided.

Urticaria changing into vitiligo has been reported in an early study (Walpin and Reiss, 1966), but not described since to our knowledge, and may therefore have been co-incidental.

## 3. Lymphoedema

It has been speculated that performing needle EMG in limbs with significant lymphoedema might theoretically carry an increased risk of infection (Dumitru et al., 2002). In patients with gross oedema anywhere on the body skin puncture by needle electrodes may result in weeping of serous fluid. However, no published report of cellulitis, infection, or other complications related to EMG performed in the setting of lymphoedema or after regional lymph node resection were found (AANEM, 2014). None the less it is perhaps *advisable* to avoid needle insertion in lymphoedematous regions to avoid potential complications (Al-Shekhlee et al., 2003) and any distressing exudate. Indeed patients

with oedema following lymph node resections and/or radiotherapy often request that needle examination not be performed in the affected limb.

#### 4. Prosthetic joints and metal osteosynthesises

Based upon current published literature no reports of complications related to needle EMG in patients with prosthetic joints were found (AANEM, 2014). It is uncertain whether the electrical NCSs stimulation near metal osteosynthesis after bone fractures would present a potential risk of electrical injury. Theoretically the risk might increase in patients with external fixation apparatus (e.g. Ilizarov), but at present this should not be a contraindication to NCS/EMG.

#### 5. Bleeding, haematoma and compartment syndromes

Inserting EMG needles into skeletal muscles is generally well tolerated with minimal or no discernable bleeding. Amongst the wide range of coexisting medical conditions thrombocytopenia (platelets below 50,000/mm³), chronic renal failure and coagulopathies (either acquired or inherited) are more frequently associated with an increased risk of bleeding during invasive procedures. Similarly it is possible for individuals on anticoagulation, anti-platelets agents and some other drugs (e.g. non-steroidal anti-inflammatory drugs and 'over the counter' herbal medications) to bleed significantly following a needle study (Preston and Shapiro, 2013).

There are a few very rare case reports in the literature (probably < 1/10,000) of medically significant haematomas and resultant potentially severe compartment syndromes, the majority in patients with known bleeding disorders, either medically induced or acquired (Al-Shekhlee et al., 2003; Baba et al., 2005; Butler and Dewan, 1984; Hough et al., 2003; Vaienti et al., 2005). The frequently cited study by Caress et al. (1996) found subclinical haematomas in paraspinal muscles after needle EMG in 5 of 17 patients, on retrospective review of Magnetic Resonance Imaging (MRI). However, a later retrospective study of 370 patients did not find evidence of any EMG-related MRI-evident paraspinal haematomas, including 161 patients who were on medications know to affect coagulation (Gertken et al., 2011). However, in a prospective study of anticoagulated patients (on warfarin, aspirin or clopidogrel) subclinical haematomas were visualized by ultrasonography in 3 out of 158 patients, compared with none of 51 control patients not on these agents (Lynch et al., 2008). The same group in a later study prospectively examined over 300 muscles with ultrasound after EMG and showed no statistical difference in the incidence of haematoma between anticoagulated patients and case control patients without blood thinning medication; although two subclinical haematomas were detected in the anticoagulated group confirming the higher theoretical risk of possible progression to significant haematomas (Boon et al., 2012). Taken together the available evidence indicates that subclinical or asymptomatic haematomas occur with an incidence of about 1 to 2/100 examined muscles; and given that generally multiple muscles are examined the risk for an individual patient is therefore in fact common. However, clinically significant haematomas are likely to be uncommon, although in a survey of 47 electrodiagnostic laboratories 4 retrospectively reported at least one case of bleeding in anticoagulated patients, requiring medical or surgical intervention (Gruis et al., 2006).

Based on the available literature the requirement of patients to discontinue warfarin or aspirin before undergoing EMG is somewhat controversial, given that the risk of discontinuing antithrombotic medications can cause thromboembolic complications. The

recommendation of a subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology is that warfarin and aspirin "might be associated with no increased clinically important bleeding with EMG" (Armstrong et al., 2013). Furthermore, there is evidence that 'bridging' patients in atrial fibrillation on Warfarin with heparin for surgical procedures did not reduce embolic complications, but did lead to an increased risk of major bleeding (Douketis et al., 2015). Moreover, a study on over 200 patients undergoing implantation of a cardiac rhythm management device compared patients with uninterrupted warfarin therapy, or in whom warfarin was paused for 2 days, and found no increase of peri-procedural bleeding complications (Airaksinen et al., 2013). However, it is currently unclear whether these results from surgical procedures with visual inspection and accurate haemostasis can be extrapolated to blind needle exploration of a muscle.

We recommend that a recent (within 48 h) International Normalized Ratio (INR) is measured in patients taking a stable dose of Warfarin and that certain measures, such as examination of superficial muscles with a fine gauge needle, may reduce the risk of clinically significant bleeding. It is probably wise to avoid needle EMG examination in patients' whose INR lies outside the therapeutic range. If the INR is unknown the urgency of the clinical question that is being addressed should be determined, along with the patients' expectations, to assess whether the examination should be deferred to a later date.

Further studies are clearly needed to evaluate the relative risk frequency of clinically relevant haematomas. Little is known whether the experience of the examiner, anatomical site of the muscle examined (i.e. limb versus paraspinal) or gauge of needle used has any influence on the bleeding risk; or whether the knowledge of the examiner of the compromised coagulation status of a patient has any impact. Most available evidence examined patients taking Warfarin and less is known about the new oral anticoagulant agents such as Xa inhibitors (e.g. rivaroxaban).

## 6. Electrodiagnostic assessment of pregnant women

No known contraindications exist for performing NCS and needle EMG in pregnant patients. In addition, no complications from these procedures have been reported in the recent neurophysiology literature. Evoked response testing, likewise, has not been reported to cause any problems when performed during pregnancy (AANEM, 2014).

### 7. Pneumothorax, peritonitis and local nerve injury

Several reports document that it is possible to cause pneumothorax, the most potentially serious (i.e. life threatening) iatrogenic complication of needle EMG, when attempting to examine certain "high risk" muscles such as the diaphragm, serratus anterior, supraspinatus, rhomboids, cervical or thoracic paraspinal muscles (Honet et al., 1986; Honet, 1988; Miller, 1990; Reinstein et al., 1987). In the most recent paper Kassardjian et al. (2016) retrospectively found over an 18 year period a symptomatic pneumothorax caused by EMG examination in 7 patients out of 64,490 patients, who had undergone EMG evaluation of 71,782 high risk muscles. Pneumothorax became apparent within 1 h in 6/7 patients and in 1 patient after 24 h. Overall the complication frequency is therefore rare (<1/1000) but dependent up on the target muscle. The highest risk was for the serratus anterior muscle with about 1/200 examinations and less than 1/500 for the diaphragm (i.e. uncommon). These figures are in agreement with previous assessments of fewer patients (Bolton, 1993; Saadeh et al., 1993; Sander et al., 1997).

A potentially hazardous penetration of the peritoneum during chest wall or abdominal musculature by needle EMG examination might theoretically lead to peritonitis, although we are not aware of any reported cases.

It is feasible that an EMG needle may also injure a nerve by direct intraneural puncture during near nerve stimulation or if a nerve travels near or through the muscle of interest. Although there are no reported cases of routine EMG needle-induced nerve trauma, there are reports of nerve trauma from other types of needles (Davison et al., 1996; Horowitz, 1994), including deliberate insertion of small needles into nerves in microneurography (Eckberg et al., 1989).

#### 8. Electrically sensitive patients

#### 8.1. Studies in the critical care unit

The most common ways a critically ill patient can become electrically sensitive are: (a) when the normal protective function of the skin is breached by intra-venous and intra-arterial catheters with leakage and spills around the catheter site, and (b) when the large volume of 'protective' soft tissue which surrounds the heart (i.e. the trunk) is bypassed by intra-cardiac catheters and external pacing wires such that small, otherwise harmless currents, become potentially lethal by direct conduction to the heart ("microshock") (Al-Shekhlee et al., 2003). A small study on 20 patients suggested that there was no risk of cardiac conduction abnormalities or malfunction of implanted cardiac pacemakers or cardiac defibrillators, if routine NCS were performed when short saline filled cannulae were placed in the antecubital fossa or at the wrist (Mellion et al., 2010).

#### 8.2. Implanted pacemakers and cardiac defibrillators

Implanted Cardiac Pacemakers (ICPs) and Implanted Cardiac Defibrillators (ICDs) both have an electronic sensing as well as stimulation function. In theory stimulation during NCSs might be mistaken as an abnormal cardiac rhythm (Almeida and Buckingham. 1993: Bardy et al., 1989: Grimm et al., 1993: LaBan et al., 1988: Preston and Shapiro, 2013; Romano et al., 1993) that may cause anti-tachycardia pacers to deliver a countershock. It is known that transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation (TENS), with stimulus frequency, pulse duration and current parameters comparable to those used in neurophysiological investigation, can interfere with ICD function (Holmgren et al., 2008). The most recent study has shown that this situation is, however, very unlikely to occur in routine electrodiagnostic testing, as evidenced by the lack of significant ECG change during nerve stimulation in a study of 77 patients (Ohira et al., 2013). When the pacemaker was deliberately inhibited in 30 of these patients there were minor symptoms including lightheadedness, heart palpitations and tingling of the fingers accompanied by heart rate changes. This contrasted with the symptom free 'control group' of 47 patients whose implanted cardiac devices were not inhibited by a magnet. Based on this small study the authors advised not to inactivate the device (Ohira et al., 2013). Similar observations showed that there is no demonstrable risk of peripheral NCSs, even at the left supraclavicular fossa, interfering with an ICP or ICD using a bipolar sensing configuration (Schoeck et al., 2007). Early devices with unipolar pacing circuitry have an increased signal pick-up area and make it theoretically possible to detect volume conducted potentials from NCS. There is a case report of an 89 year old man with a unipolar ICP whose cardiac output was lost during facial nerve stimulation, but returned after cessation of nerve stimulation (Schoeck et al., 2007).

Incidentally a reported implantable pacemaker failure, thought to be related to phrenic nerve stimulation (Wicks et al., 1978), represents a rather different situation than occurs in NCS and is more

akin to the interference that may occur from powerful external electromagnetic devices, such as magnetic resonance imaging or a magnet placed over the pulse generator. However, complete inhibition of a unipolar cardiac pacemaker in conjunction with an interscalene nerve stimulator (utilized for regional anesthesia) has been reported (Engelhardt et al., 2007).

A study of fourteen patients undergoing insertion of 10 ICDs and 4 ICPs under general anaesthesia received Repetitive nerve stimulation of the median, axillary, and spinal accessory nerves at 2 Hz and 50 Hz. Noise due to electromagnetic interference was visible in 2 ICDs, but only with stimulation at neck and supraclavicular sites and without spurious tachyarrhythmia. With 4 pacemakers electromagnetic interference led to pacing inhibition with 3 and a pause in 2, both of which were then programmed to a unipolar sensing configuration. (Cronin et al., 2013).

In general terms, routine NCS appear to be safe in patients with modern bipolar implanted cardiac devices. However, we *recommend* that NCS should not be performed in patients with external pacing wires or intracardiac catheters. As regards pacemakers with unipolar sensing and implanted cardiac defibrillators there are limited data and knowledge gaps, such that we *recommend* a dialogue with the patient and their cardiologist about the theoretical risks. Some device manufacturers and cardiologists advise that the devices should be deactivated, and in the spirit of engagement we feel patients should be offered this, as it is quite easy to undertake whilst monitoring the ECG.

# 8.3. Implanted deep brain stimulators (DBS) and Vagal nerve stimulators (VNS)

Implanted DBS and VNS are rarely known to interfere with EMG recording (Bejanishvili et al., 2005; Nandedkar et al., 2013). These artifacts could render findings un-interpretable and potential problems in performing the studies (St John Edward Barker et al., 2010). Prior arrangement with patients and their specialist nurses is required to switch the device off during EMG studies.

#### 9. Conclusion

Ultimately a clinical discussion in each individual case with the patient, and where relevant their primary Physician, should assess whether the risk of complications is greater than the diagnostic and prognostic benefit of the information to be obtained from an electrodiagnostic test. We have provided pragmatic recommendations based on the information available in the limited literature, and our clinical experience, about the level and severity of risks. We have outlined situations where the evidence suggests that NCS and EMG are safe, but where a patient themselves may have misgivings. Both NCS and EMG very commonly cause procedural discomfort, whilst needle EMG commonly causes bruising and asymptomatic haematoma, but clinically significant haematoma and their sequelae are uncommon. The most serious complication of needle EMG is pneumothorax, depending on the muscle examined, but overall this is rare, and clinically significant infection is very rare.

## **Authors contribution**

All authors have contributed to the writing and researching material relevant to this educational review and have reached consensus on the recommendations there in.

## **Conflict of interest**

None.

#### References

- American Association of Neuromuscular and Electrodiagnostic Medicine (AANEM). Risks of Electrodiagnostic Medicine. July 2014; 1–8. <a href="https://www.aanem.org/getmedia/653e87b3-f930-4951-9bd8-dde95c291ce2/risksinEDX.pdf">https://www.aanem.org/getmedia/653e87b3-f930-4951-9bd8-dde95c291ce2/risksinEDX.pdf</a>.
- Airaksinen, K.E.J., Koreila, P., Lund, J., Ylitalo, A., Karjalainen, P., Virtanen, V., Raatikainen, P., Koivisto, U.M., Koistinen, J., 2013. Safety of pacemaker and implantable cardioverter-defibrillator implantation during uninterrupted warfarin treatment The FinPAC study. Int. J. Cardiol. 168, 3679–3682.
- Almeida, H.F., Buckingham, T.A., 1993. Inappropriate implantable cardioverter defibrillator shocks secondary to sensing lead failure: utility of stored electrograms. Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol. 16, 407–411.
- Al-Shekhlee, A., Shapiro, B.E., Preston, D.C., 2003. latrogenic complications and risks of nerve conduction studies and needle electromyography. Muscle Nerve 27, 517–526
- Armstrong, M.J., Gronseth, G., Anderson, D.C., Biller, J., Cucchiara, B., Dafer, R., Goldstein, L., Schneck, M., Messé, S.R., 2013. Summary of evidence-based guideline: Periprocedural management of antithrombotic medications in patients with ischemic cerebrovascular disease Report of the Guideline Development Subcommittee of the American Academy of Neurology. Neurology 80, 2065–2069.
- Baba, Y., Hentschel, K., Freeman, W.D., Broderick, D.F., Wszolek, Z.K., 2005. Large paraspinal and iliopsoas muscles hematomas. Arch. Neurol. 62, 1306.
- Bardy, G.H., Ivey, T.D., Allen, M.D., Johnson, G., Mehra, R., Greene, H.L., 1989. A prospective randomized evaluation of biphasic versus monophasic waveform pulses on defibrillation efficacy in humans. J. Am. Coll. Cardiol. 14, 728–733.
- Bejanishvili, S., Osborne, L.E., Messenger, K., Olejniczak, P., Gutierrez, A., 2005. EMG vagus nerve stimulator artifact. Neurol. Clin. Neurophysiol. 2005, 1.
- Bolton, C.F., 1993. AAEM minimonograph #40: clinical neurophysiology of the respiratory system. Muscle Nerve 16, 809–818.
- Boon, A.J., Gertken, J.T., Watson, J.C., Laughlin, R.S., Strommen, J.A., Mauermann, M. L., Sorenson, E.J., 2012. Hematoma risk after needle electromyography. Muscle Nerve 45. 9–12.
- Burris, J.F., Fairchild, P.G., 1986. Iatrogenic hand injuries in outpatients. South. Med. J. 79, 1515–1516.
- Butler, M.L., Dewan, R.W., 1984. Subcutaneous haemorrhage in a patient receiving anticoagulant therapy: an unusual EMG complication. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 65, 733–734.
- Caress, J.B., Rutkove, S.B., Carlin, M., Khoshbin, S., Preston, D.C., 1996. Paraspinal muscle hematoma after electromyography. Neurology 47, 269–272.
- Cronin, E.M., Gray, J., Abi-Saleh, B., Wilkoff, B.L., Levin, K.H., 2013. Safety of repetitive nerve stimulation in patients with cardiac implantable electronic devices. Muscle Nerve 47, 840–844.
- Davison, B.L., Kosmatka, P.K., Ferlic, R.J., 1996. Acute radial nerve compression following routine venipuncture in an anticoagulated patient. Am. J. Orthop. 25, 712–713.
- Douketis, J.D., Spyropoulos, A.C., Kaatz, S., Becker, R.C., Caprini, J.A., Dunn, A.S., Garcia, D.A., Jacobson, A., Jaffer, A.K., Kong, D.F., Schulman, S., Turpie, A.G.G., Hasselblad, V., Ortel, T.L., for the BRIDGE Investigators, 2015. Perioperative bridging anticoagulation in patients with atrial fibrillation. N. Engl. J. Med. 373, 823–833. http://dx.doi.org/10.1056/NEJMoa1501035.
- Dumitru, D., Amato, A., Zwarts, M., 2002. Electrodiagnostic Medicine. Hanley & Belfus Inc, p 286.
- Eckberg, D.L., Wallin, B.G., Fagius, J., Lundberg, L., Torebjork, H.E., 1989. Prospective study of symptoms after human microneurography. Acta Physiol. Scand. 137, 567–569.
- Engelhardt, L., Grosse, J., Birnbaum, J., Volk, T., 2007. Inhibition of a pacemaker during nerve stimulation for regional anaesthesia. Anaesthesia 62, 1071–1074.
- Gertken, J.T., Hunt, C.H., Chinea, N.I., Morris, J.M., Sorenson, E.J., Boon, A.J., 2011. Risk of hematoma following needle electromyography of the paraspinal muscles. Muscle Nerve 44, 439–440.
- Grimm, W., Flores, B.T., Marchlinski, F.E., 1993. Shock occurrence and survival in 241 patients with implantable cardioverter-defibrillator therapy. Circulation 87, 1880–1888.

- Gruis, K.L., Little, A.A., Zebarah, V.A., Albers, J.W., 2006. Survey of electro-diagnostic laboratories regarding hemorrhagic complications from needle electromyography. Muscle Nerve 34, 356–358.
- Holmgren, C., Carlsson, T., Mannheimer, C., Edvardsson, N., 2008. Risk of interference from transcutaneous electrical nerve stimulation on the sensing function of implantable defibrillators. Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol. 31, 151–158.
- Honet, J.E., Honet, J.C., Cascade, P., 1986. Pneumothorax after electromyographic electrode insertion in the paracervical muscles: case report and radiographic analysis. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 67, 601–603.
- Honet, J.C., 1988. Pneumothorax and EMG. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 69, 149.
- Horowitz, S.H., 1994. Peripheral nerve injury and causalgia secondary to routine venipucture. Neurology 44, 962–964.
- Hough, D.M., Wittenberg, K.H., Pawlina, W., Maus, T.P., King, B.F., Vrtiska, T.J., Farrell, M.A., Antolak, S.J., 2003. Chronic perineal pain caused by pudendal nerve entrapment: anatomy and CT-Guided perineural injection technique. AJR Am. J. Roentgenol. 181, 561–567.
- Kassardjian, C.D., O'Gorman, C.M., Sorenson, E.J., 2016. The risk of iatrogenic pneumothorax after electromyography. Muscle Nerve 53, 518–521.
- LaBan, M.M., Petty, D., Hauser, A.M., Taylor, R.S., 1988. Peripheral nerve conduction stimulation: its effect on cardiac pacemakers. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 69, 358–362.
- Lynch, S.L., Boon, A.J., Smith, J., Harper, C.M., Tanaka, E.M., 2008. Complications of needle electromyography: hematoma risk and correlation with anticoagulation and antiplatelet therapy. Muscle Nerve 38, 1225–1230.
- Mellion, M.L., Buxton, A.E., Iyer, V., Almahameed, S., Lorvidhaya, P., Gilcrist, J.M., 2010. Safety of nerve conduction studies in patients with peripheral intravenous lines. Muscle Nerve 42, 189–191.
- Miller, J., 1990. Pneumothorax complication of needle EMG of thoracic wall. N. Engl. I. Med. 87, 653.
- Nandedkar, S.D., Sheridan, C., Bertoni, S., Hiner, B.C., Barkhaus, P.E., 2013. Deep brain stimulator artifact in needle electromyography; effect and distribution in paraspinal and upper limb muscle. Muscle Nerve 47, 561–565.
- Nolan, C.M., Hashisaki, P.A., Dundas, D.F., 1991. An outbreak of soft-tissue infections due to Mycobacterium fortuitum associated with electromyography. J. Infect. Dis. 163, 1150–1153.
- Ohira, M., Silcox, J., Haygood, D., Harper-King, V., Alsharabati, M., Lu, L., Morgan, M. B., Young, A.M., Claussen, G.C., King, P.H., Oh, S.J., 2013. Electromyography tests in patients with implanted cardiac devises are safe regardless of magnet placement. Muscle Nerve 47, 17–22.
- Preston, D.C., Shapiro, B.E., 2013. Electromyography and Neuromuscular Disorder. Butterworth-Heinemann, London, pp 1–643.
- Reinstein, L., Twardzik, F.G., Mech Jr., K.F., 1987. Pneumothorax: a complication of needle electromyography of the supraspinatus muscle. Arch. Phys. Med. Rehabil. 68, 561–562.
- Romano, M., Zucco, F., Baldini, M.R., Allaria, B., 1993. Technical and clinical problems in patients with simultaneous implantation of a cardiac pacemaker and spinal cord stimulator. Pacing Clin. Electrophysiol. 16, 1639–1644.
- Saadeh, P.B., Crisafulli, C.F., Sosner, J., Wolf, E., 1993. Needle electromyography of the diaphragm: a new technique. Muscle Nerve 16, 15–20.
- Sander, H.W., Quinto, C.M., Murali, R., Chokroverty, S., 1997. Cervical root stimulation may be complicated by pneumothorax. Neurology 48, 288–289.
- Schoeck, A.P., Mellion, M.L., Gilchrist, J.M., Christian, F.V., 2007. Safety of nerve conduction studies in patients with implanted cardiac devises. Muscle Nerve 35, 521–524.
- St John Edward Barker, A., Hadjivassiliou, M., Ali Khan, A., Rao, D.G., 2010. Beware of deep brain stimulation devices during neurophysiology. J. Neurol. Neurosurg. Psychiatry 81, 702–703.
- Vaienti, L., Vourtsis, S., Urzola, V., 2005. Compartment syndrome of the forearm following an electromyographic assessment. J. Hand Surg. Br. 30, 656–657.
- Walpin, L.A., Reiss, F., 1966. Urticaria changing to vitiligo provoked by electromyographic examination. Acta Derm. Venerol. 46, 242–244.
- Wicks, J.M., Davison, R., Belic, N., 1978. Malfunction of a demand pacemaker caused by phrenic nerve stimulation. Chest 74, 303–305.